IINITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

IN RE CITIGROUP AUCTION RATE MASTER FHE
SECURITH:S TITIGATION ! 08 Civ. 3095 (L'T5) (M)

this Document Relares Lo: :
Al Actions o

LEAD PLAINTIFF'S CONSOLIDATED AMENDED COMPLAINT

Belalt of basell and all others simibacly sitaaeed, by his attomeys, and pursuant 1o l""c-ilicl‘a] Rules
of Civil Proveduore ((Fen, B Qv P Rale THIM 0D, makes the allegadons m rhis (.ithi?s<)Iiiiillt_;3L'|
Awmended Complaing CComplaint™ wpon infornation and belic! {(excepe as wo allegarions aboar
buselly ward hased upon the investigaiion of consel miro the fucrs and clecumstances alleged
heren, whicl included, ser ali, a review and analysis ot (i) the iings of defendane Cirigroup,
lne. (CClogroep™ made with the Secunses and Exchange Commission ("SEC™); (1) press
releases, public statements, news articles, aod other publications disseminared by or concerning
Ciugroup and the orher detendants vamed i this Complaing (together, the *Defendants™) and
suction pate securities (CARS?Y; (i) media teports concerning the Dedendants and ARS; (iv)
iznscripts of Cirigronp's gquarterly enrnings conlercnce calls; (v} che corpotate websites of
Deterndants; (o) other public and non-public miormation concerning Defendanes and ARS; and
{(vit) consultauons with investigators and consuleius, Lead Plaindff believes chat atrer reasonable
opportunity for discovery, substantial evidennary support will bikely exist for the following

allegations:




NATURE OF ACTION

l. Lead Plainnff brings dhis action, pursuant 1o §§10(0Y and 20{a) of the Sccurities
Fxchiange Act of 1934 (the "Txchunge Act” and Rule 10b-3(a) and (<), 8206 and 215 of the
Invesument Advisers Act of 1940 (the “ 1940 Act™. and v;ln'inus state statutes and common law,
on behall of a cliws of investors i Crrgronp ARS G defined below in 12) underwriven and/or
sold 1o aocnons namaged by Cidgroup or delondunt Cirigroup Global Markers Inc. (“Global
Markets"), or prrchased through hroker-dealen detendant Smidh Baroey (*Smith Barney™).

2. Defendants, during the Class Period (defined below m 1193, engaged in a scheme,
praceice or course of condner to maniputare tw warker for ARS underwritien and/or sold by
them in auctions they managed CCragroap ARS™).

3. Citgroup ARS could only be sobl i ane tions managed by them; uo public market
for Cilipionp ARS exasend.

+. Durng he Class Perod and unbeknowanst o Load Pliinattand die Class (defined
Beelowe i 919, Detendants manipodoted the marker Tor Citigroup ARS, iustering the ilhision Li]éll
avalidl marken existed where buyers and sellers came together, wirh supply and demand in
alisne e, alfownn for the suceessind completion ol anctions, wlui_-n i b ne such balanee existed.

5. During the Chass Perod, Deiencangs regululy intervened o ensure that the
auctions for Cirigroup ARS did e fail By doing so, Defendants garnered anction dealer fees
based, i part, upor the amount of the Citigroup ARS sold in the auctions, and sold their own
wventory of Cliigroup ARS w members of the Chass (described Below in 1423,

0. When Defendants ccased intervening into auctions for Cirigroup ARS, the
auctions fafed in their entirery, and the Cirigroup ARS market came 10 a sudden snd immediage

had Lead Plandtt and che Class were Tefe widh Billions of dollars of Citigroup ARS and no




wavker woosell ther posivions.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

/. The chaims asserted herem anse under 8 03() and 2000 of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.CL88781h), 780(a), and Rule 10b-5¢4) and (¢), promudgated chercunder, §§206 and 215 of
the 1940 Acr, 15 ULS.C§880b-6 and 80b- 13, vtar and deceptive practices acts for the Srates of
Arizonn, Florida, [Hinoss, Maryland, Wisconsin, Colorado, Kentucky, New Mexico, Delaware,
South Dakora and Norech Dakota (thie “Deceprive Practices Acts”), and common law breach of
Gducinry duty. In addirion, Lead Plamt seeks injuncove rehiet.

. Jurisdiceion for (fuuﬁ{s [ and 1 exists pursuant to $27 of the Exchange Act, 15

CLS.CL§78ua, and 28 TS §1331

9. Jurisdiction tor Count T exists puvsiant §2 14 of the 1940 Ace, 15 ULS.CL §80b-
1+
L Jurisdiction tor Cowns 1V throueh V1 exists pussuant o 28 USC§§1332 (),

[33200¥(2), andfor supplomnental junsdiction,

. Venue is proper in this Districs pursiant o §27 of the Exchange Acy, 28 US.CL
SU390(hY aund 28 US.C §l3.3?’!, aed $219 o the 1940 Acr, 15 LLS.C §80b- 14, Delendants
maimtain their poncipal places of busiess and tansac business i ehis Disericr, and many ol dhe
auts pivitge rise Lo the violanons ableged Derem ocenrred in this Districet.

PARTIES

L Lead Plaimili puarchased Citigronp ARS thronghy his account ar Smith Barsey
Jduring rhe Class Period, and suftered damages thereby, The annexed Certtfication by Passidomo
retlects his Class Period Citigroup ARS purchoses. Passidomo his been appoineed Lead Plaingit

in this nerion by the Court inan order daced June 25, 2008,




[3. Chiigroup is o global diversiticd finanaal services holding company - whose
businesses provide a broad cange ol thancial services 1o consumer and corpurate customers,
Citigroup Lins more than 200 million custonier acconnts and does business in more than 100
countrics. Citigroup was incorporated i 1988 imder the Taws of the State of Delaware.

14, Global Markers is Cirigroup’s primary ULS. broker-dealer subsidiary.  Globat
Markets iy a hroker-dealer registered with the SEC pursiwane 1o §15(h) of the I'ix.t_‘.ln'mge Act,
Gilohal Markets has s principal place of business and s headguartered in New York.

L5 Global Markets s conducied Ciigroup ARS aections a lease since 2003,

16, Global Markers has been appoinied by the issuer of securities o serve as a dealer
in acctions and is paid by the bsner @ dealer fee tor those services hased upon the principal
amotmg of the securites placed through Citiaroag.

7. Smith Barney provides mvestment advice, financial planning and  brokerage
services o atlluent individuals, companics, and non-prodits. Por che fiscal year 2007, Smith
Barney corned over $3 billion in commnssions andd tees, which includes brokerage services. Smith
Bartey s o division of Global Markers Snuth Bamey b within the Global Weablth Managenient
scgment ot Citiproup’s bistess.

h Smich Barney has sold Crireroup ARS ro investors an least sinee 2004, and sold
Citigroup ARS 1o Lead Plainciff and orther imembers ol the Class L.lmmg the Class Period.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

9. Lead Plaindff brings this acrion as o cliss uction pursuaat to TED ROC, P 23(a)
and 23(0303), except as ro Count VI, on behadt of all persons who purchased (including rhose
persans who placed hold orders, as described in %30) Citigroup ARS during the period from

August 1, 2007 through Febenary 11, 2008 {the “Class Period™ and were damagaed thereby,




crcept the Detendants, dheir partners, direcrors, otficers aned employees or of (heir subsidiaries or
ailbiines (as dedined i STEC Rule 120-2) durme e Class Period (“flmrlud_cd Persons™, or any
citity i which any Excluded Person ar ey hay o conrrolling inrerest, and the legal
representarives, heirs, successors md wssipns of any Exchuded Persorr (the "Class™.

20, The members of che Class are so numetons and peographically dispersed char
ottider of sl meishers ts topracticable. Detendanes ssued, sold or mannged suctions of more
than $30 hillion of Citigroup ARS, During the Class Period, Delendanis sold or offered ior sale
i Detendants-managed auctions In_illic ms oif dolbaes of Ciigroup ARS,

2L Lead Phaintddt's claines are vypeal af thie claims of the Class becawse e and the
Class members sustained damages irom Defendant wrongful conducr

2 Lead Phatsait will adeguaely prowect the inreresss of the Class. Lead Plainniff has
retained counsel who is experienced and comperent in cluss action securities litigacion.  Lead
Plamtiff has no interests which are tn conflict with those of the Class.

23 A class action is superion o other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy.

24, Compuon guestions of law and fact predominate over questions which affect only
ividual niembers. Among the guestions o faw and face conmmon to the Class are:

{1 Whether the federval sconriaes biws were violatad by Detendants” acts;

i} Whether Dofendants pucsucd the raudutent scheme aid course of
neurpulative cotnduct complained of;

() Whethor Detendans acred knowimely, intenonally or teckbessly;

t'_d:} Whether Delendams manipulated the marker b the Citgroup ARS in

HI IR lFr:ll [hL'\_- m;[n;lgui;




! Whecher Smith Bamey vichaed the 1940 Acr,

{1} Whether Global Markets and Smith Barney violated the State Deceprive
Proactices Acts;
{1} Whether Smuh Baney owed fiduciary duties o the Class and if so,

whetlier it breached those duries; and
(h)  The exaent and measure of damage sustained by the Class.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

General Background: Auction Rate Sccurities

25. ARS have, inone form or anodher, existed for over two decades.
20. In the agaregace, by the end ol the Class Period, the ARS marker had grown ta

seatly $340 Dillion. OF that, sccording 1o an hadustry Focus repont entiitled, “Collapse of the
Anction Rate Market,” dared April 14, 2008, and issued by Global Markews, “80% ol the
ougstanding aucrion rate securiries are debt insoromens and cthe remaining 20% (or $72 b)Y are

a

proterred securivies (esseruially a form of equity, Lugely used by closed-end funds)

[
|

ARS are mmmicipal bonds, corporare bonds, and preferred stocks wirle interese
raes or dividord vields tha are penodicadly re-se through auctions, tepacally every 7, 28, or 35
days. Generally, ARS trade and are collabie ac par on the auction date.

24, The auctions serve two purposes. First, an auction provides 4 meany (05 invesgors
who no fonger wane wo hold their ARS to reselt thenn 1o other investors. Second, an auction
Jetenpines the meerest rare the issuer of the ARS will pay during the period until the next
HISTRETRINN

29, Interest is puid in the current period hased on the interest tate derennined in the

[T AN T




3 Investors submir orders w0 bay tor bid), hold or sell ARS througin the broker-
deaders selecred by dhe tssuer of a4 speciic ARS Inca buy or sell order, anmvestor (new or pre-
extstingd subnue g bid 1o purchase on sell e ARG A hold order, while resuling in o new
purchase of the saue ARS, dees not require a bid in order 1o receive the interest tate determined
at the aucnon,

1. The broker-dealer nymagees the anction process. Most auctions are run by a single
broker-deder.

32 CUnee the broker-dealer recerves the orders, e dhicn submits then: 1o the auction
asent. The ouction avent colleces orders trom the Broker-dealers, determimes ehe samoung of ARS
available for sale, crganizes the bids, and determines the clearing rate, te, the tinal race ac which
all of the ARS are sold.

33 In the evene the auction agent does not receive sufficient orders to purchase all
rhe ARS heing sold in the aucrion, the aucrion is said ro have f'ailéal‘ In other words, an auction
Laids it there wre more ARS for .w:ﬂc than rhere are bids for them, I rhere s a failed auction,
Bolders of ARS are now able ro exir thetr posiions i the ARS through the auction.

3. I the over owo decades prior wo the beginning of the Class Pestod, according to
reports of an analysts svade by Moody's, only thisteen anctions of ARS failed, the last one in

2006,

\_,...
N

Pruring the Chiss Peried, sud nobeknownst 1o Lead Phinsutf and the membens of
the Class, ancions manaeed by entivics other than the Defendantes began o fail) shiehuly ot firse
aiid baldingg ro complece tatlure by February 13, 2008,

Detendants” Manipulative Misconduct during the Class Period

3, Besinning no Iater thne Aveust 1, 2007 and continuing chironshont the Class

i




Period, in therr roles actively selting and ianacing Ciagroup ARS auctions, Defendans knew
that the number of buyvers for Cidgroup ARS did not match or exceed the sellers of Clrigroup
ARS As a consequence of this inbalance, Delendans’ auctions would have (ailed without
Dietendanes” intervention.

37 Defendanes knew of this imbalance and that the consequence of these imbalances
wotlld tead 1o failed aucnions of Citigroup ARS without Defendants” intervention because of the
roles they played in the Citigroup ARS auctions they managed.

3. As the Regional Bond Dealers Association recenty explained in its Auguse 15,
2008 lever wo the SEC amd others:

Eead nanagers i an ARS mmansacrion exeicise an slmost compleie degree of

vontrob over intormation associared with auctions. Lead managers are the only

dealers assoctated with an ARS thun know, for example, the number of bidders at

e auction, the ndividual and ageregare dollar amount of bids, the range of bid

prices, whetlier there are sufficienr bids by investors for the auction o succeed,

and the clearing vates i successful auctions (hefore those rates are disclosed 1o

the issver wd mvestors). The lead manager is also the only prarty {other than

perhiaps the aucton agent, who is not o prinapal in e cransaction) awho knoaws

awhether the lead manager itself bid at an wuction for its own account and awhether
that bid was necessury for the anction’s success. [Emphasis added. |

39, Ireits mdtiple roles in underwrting Citigroup ARS, selling Cingroup ARS and/or
nataging avctions ot Citigroup ARS, Detendants receivad fees for their services from, among
others, the ssoers of Citigroup ARS.

4C. When Defendants imderwrite offerings of Ciigroup ARS, 1he issuer pays them
wnderwriting fees.

4. When Detendims nuniage auciions of Cirigroup ARS, Defendants receive from
the b "anction deater fees.” These fees ure paid on the principal mnowst of tie seourities, ie.,

the Citigronp ARS, placed with mvestors trough Defendants.




I ender w prevent ailed anenons, the consequent foss of underwriting and
aucton dealer fees, and allow Defendints o sell the Citgronp ARS inventory held on
Cirigroup's balance sheer, Diefendants embarked on a0 pracrice 1o regularly and increasingly
mrervene to prevent tailed auctions, By so doing, Defendins fostered the illusion of 4 scable
niacket for Cirigtonp ARS inaucions i nnaged during dhe Class Period.

43. Throughour the Class Period, supply of Citigroup ARS was mereasing while the
denand tor Ciigroup ARS win decremsing.

44 When the supply of Citigroup ARS exceeded the bids {or demand) for Citigroup
ARS, Delendants submiceed bids 1o cnsire i thase ARS offered would be sold in the aucton.
They did ifas regudarly diroughour dhe Chass Period. Indeed, while Defendants’ competitors
expericnced failed uucions doring the Class Period, Delendants’ auctions did not.

445. Lead Plainrift and members of the Class continued to purchase Citigroup ARS
believing that the “auction process™ was in luct ocourring as an auction is intended 10, i.e., buyers
and sellers cach bidding for and offering for sale Cieigroup ARS bascd upon a specified clearing
THIL

10. The scope and panern ot Detendines’ ever-increasing intervention into ehe
auctions tor Cirigronp ARS was unknown ro Lead Platnlf and the menbers of the Class.

47. Notwithsianding thar Delendans knew during che Class Period that scllers and
Ciizroup ARS supply custrpped buyers and demand, (hey nonetlickess continued 1o underwrite
Cittgroup ARS and/or act as a broker-dealer managing auctions through which Lead Plainsiff and
the Class purclased Cirtgronp ARS.

F Uideroup ARS tar which Global Markets served s the anction dealer during the

i Peviond incloded:




y

(1) THGHE ANDS COUNTY EA HEALUTH FACS AUTH REV--VAR-
HOSP-ADVENTISTHILTTESYS B, dhned August &, 2007, auctivmed every 7 days;

{h EDUCATIONAL DG SOUTH INC FLA EDL EN REV-VAR-AMT-
STUDENT N BKT-A-S, dated NU\-"L‘II.IE\L'I' 7, 2007, and auctioned every 28 dayy;

(<} CALIFORNIA STATEWIDE CMNTYS DIV AUTH REV-VAR. LA
CNTY MUSEUM ART PL-B, dived Movember 9, 2007, and auctioned every 7 days;

{ud} FIARRIS ONTY TEX HEALTH FACS DEV CORP HOSP REV-ARS-
BATLOR COLLLGE MED-A4, duted Novemher 15, 2007, and aucuoned every 7 days; and

() VERMONT ST STUDENT ASSISTANCE CORP ED LN REV- ARS-
TAXABLE-SERYY, duted December 5, 2007, and auctioned every 28 days.

449 During the Class Period, and while knowing thae sellers and supply of Cidgroup
ARS vastripped Buyvers and denuand, Dedendanes” “auction desk™ continued 10 tout o its Smith
Barney brokars new issues for which Ciigroup ARS would he sold.

30, The sucton Jdesk, .I-)t.‘f.l_'!ltiilll['.‘.\', cenrral command cenrer tor ies Cieigroup ARS
husiness, sent sy e-nals woits Soche Borney brokers identifying Cudgroup ARS issucs, the
commission to the brokers (or placing the Cirigronp ARS, ond the "price (alk” (ie., the range of
likely clearing vates for the vuction) payable 1o investors who purchased these issues.
ai. - E-madl waffic o Smith Barttey brokers touting the sale of Citigroup ARS 1o the
Class inereased sipnificantly duttng the second hall of 2007 (e, during the Class Pertod).

52 To entice Smith Barney brokers into selling aud investors ino acquiring these
pew Bsties, Uie connission taies w brokers inereasad as did the interest rates paid on the
Clhiigroup ARS ro investors,

33, Az reported in The Wall Streer Jowomal on July 28, 2008:
I July

10




Wall Srreer firms started raising commissions paid o some brokers at outside

dealers who sold (he securities to clients, an action that might serve as an

cuticeent w them o sell more. On Now. 2, 2007, for example, Credit Suisse’s
short-term trading desk sent out un email informing its salespeople that Citigroup

wds increasing its commissions to outside dealers from 0.15 of a percent of the

security sold o 0.200 of a percent en certain of its auction-rate  securities,

according to a person familier with the email. By rhe start of January, their

commissions on all types of Cirigroup's auction-rare securities rose to 0.15 of a

percent, instead of 01, says the person. {Emiphasis added.

54 I December 2007, Doiendants, in g masy e-mail o its Smich Barney brokers,
encournged them o sell o Defendants™underwritien offering of Citigronp ARS issucd by Bavlor
schoal of Medicine {"Baylor ARS™Y. with the “price ralk™ of 3.3-3.4%. As an incentive to its
brokers 1o sell the Baylor ARS, Deferddanes oficred an increased compuission (o 25 basis poings
(trani the wiund 18-20 basis poinesy. Afrer the inrial comail, Defendis internally disseminared
another camail, this tine with the *price wlk™ increasing (e vield w invesrors 1o 3.9-3.6%, and
inctersing the Smich Barney brokers” commission trom 2% hasis potnts ro 50 basis points.

5. Detendanes aucrion desk told Suurly Baeney brokers that rhe arractive erms did
not relbecr any increased visk associated wieli the ARS, hur rather was o means 1o bring money
e the dinm because Citigroup wis contemding with the nepsiive tnancial ipact of the
suhprinme Crisis,

S, Ditendins” compeuton, UBS, knew  thae Detendants were supporting  the
anciions, althongh Lead Plhaintiff and members of the Class did not.

37. As stated i an cemail dared Januvary 13, 2008 berween and among UBS
personnel, setting out o discussion of key pomnts regarding ARS and sctting forth UBS oprions,
vption nuaber 3 included, i par, "Conrinue (o support the Auctions .7 In assessing this

option, the el declares: “Our competitors are al pursuing this oprion with their own liguidicy

tor thelr own chicnes (Cini, BOA, RIS, JPM)Y.”

11




38, Aunorher UBS e-mail, chis one daied Febroary 7, 2008 (between and among UBS
personnel), reflected Detendants” knowledge of the impaet of no fonger supporring arctions (ie.,
lerting them tul), on the eve of Defendmns” decision ro cease supporting auctions:

Fhis s had. 1 ok o ride w my neighbor torm citi, they are Tooking av sone worse

case scenarios that are really shakiog ihem up, ... Things like affecrs o IBD,

fending and other businesses il corporations get stuck with billions in failed

auctions, where do they ger their casl and from whone L T would say if body
banguage Is meaningtul, they are cither teerenmg on the edge or dhe pressure is just
unbelicvable. Fle was dying o ask me st we are contemplating faiting auctions.

59 Uuimarely, on Febroary 11, 2008, Delendunts ceased  inrervening into  the
auctions o prevent them from failing. Conseguently, all of Defendams’ Citigroup ARS auctions
tatfed, leaving Lead Plaingiff and the members of the Class smable (o sell their Cirigroup ARS.

H0. Not untit March 2008 when Defendunes mailed o Lead Plaintiff his brokerage
stakement toe the period trom Teboaay | through February 29, 2008, did Defendants finally
adimir in o “Message” ar the end of the stteend, "t the Auction-Rate Secuiities (ARS)
markit is experiencing a supply and dewmand mmbalance, resulimg in failed wucrions and
steniticantly reduced or Tack of liquidicy.”

After Defendants Ceased Intervening in 1he Cigroup ARS Auctions

01, As noted man articke inthe Al 14, 2008 ¢diven of the DealBook page of The
New Yerk danes, "A Loag, Cold Cashiless Steg,”

ldeed, experes say thae calling these securitics suction -oriented is something of a
misnomer because real auctons - durg which buyers and sellors meet d an
Hilerest rate is set bhased R RIDE thuir inrerest — weren't wking place I recent years.
Tistead, the Wall Street fivms in cluree of the anctions simoothed the process by
biddine with their own capital rather than vustling up thousands of huyers to meet
up with sellers every week or so!

Civens s marker’s size, i became havder wor Wall Street to arrange true suctions
repnlacly.
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“Anction scouwrines becune o nnnaged  brdding systan, not o rrue investor
auction,” said Joseph S0 Fichew, cluel executive of Saber Parrners, o hnancial
advisory firm, "The inwvestor never knew how muany invesiors there avere, howw
often the brokeruge firms weve stepping in to make the system work, nov that the
broker’s support could stop all of u sudden.

“If we had transparency in the system, investors could have judged the ability to-
sell in the individual auctions and bid accordingly,” he added. {Emphasis added.]

62, Asreported inrthe June 3, 2008 edidon of The Bond Buver:

Martha Malun Haines {SEC Chiet of Otitee of Mundeipal Sceeurities] sawd
that one of the biggest problem in the ARS market avas its opucity, awhich may
have kept investors from knowing that u small grow of broker-dealer fivms that
bid on the auctions were oriticd to preventing widespread faihres. Lven though
brokee-dealers disclosed that they were bidding un auctions, the extent of their
[nodicipation was unknown, she said.

I nvestors could see thar broker-dealers were so acdve in this market ...
perhiips 1t wounldn't have srown so farge, well beyoud the broker-dealers” ability to
Liold i up,” Tlaimes said, speaking at the Sceurities Industry and Financial Markerts
Association’s legal and compliance conference in New York. “We may not have
gotten into this mess had there been transparency.” | Emphasis added. |

COUNTI
Violations of Scction 10{b) and Rule 10b-5{a) and (¢): Markct Manipulation
(Against All Defendarus)

3. Lead Plaintii wepens and realleges cach of the allegarions set forth in 4% through
8, arud [1-62.
O During the Class Period, with knowledee of or reckless disrepand ior the wruth,

Defendans engaved in manipulative conduer.

6h, Detencdants knew or vecklcosty disvegarded thon: (a) as of the commencement of

the Class Penod, sellers and supply of Ciogreup ARS oustiipped buyers and demand tor
Citigroup ARS, i imdabance thin wonld lead o tailed auctons; (b)Y inorder ro avoid tuled
auctions, Delendans would need o intervene o give the illusion of an equality of buyers ol

sellers of Cliigroup ARS; and (¢) without Defendans” intervention, the aucoons would fail, zod

[3




Defendaies would: (i) not receive underwriting fees for new Citdgronp ARS offerings, (i) not
receive broker-deader fees and commiissions associared with the oftering and sale of Citigroup
ARS, (i) not receive auciion dealer fees associated widly the auctions ol Citigroup ARS; (iv)
subject themsehves o huee Tabilities o ssuers of Citigroup ARS and investors who |'nnl'chasmi
Citigroup ARS (nchading Tead Planifl and the embers of the Class); and (W) subject
themselves to regulatory mvestigations wnd proceedings.

00, No trer than by the commencement of the Class Period, Defendanes knew chat
the Clirgroap’s nancial statements would reflecr o continuing negative impact from the
stibprime viisis. Accordingly, Cirdgroup neceded o find o means by which 1o otiset the negarive
ipace and so, cibarked an oo conrse of conduct o sepponc ws auciions of Cligroup ARS 1o
venccate undenwringy, brokec-dealor and aocion dealer fees.

07, Citigroup sheceeded i oflseting the negative unpact from it exposure o the
sthprime crisis quarter adter gquarter during the Class Period.

0. As denonstrated by the srtomerus of ity Chief Financial  Otficer {Gary
Crivtendent o the 3 Querter 2007 carmings conterence call held on Oceober 15, 2007 and again
e the 4" Ouarrer 2007 cimnigs conference calt held on Jannary 15, 2008, Cidgroup’s Glohal
Wealth Munagement business — of which Smith Barmey is a parr continued to contribute
HIOWHNS revenues.

oY, Durimg the 3% Quarter carnings couterence call, for exaple, Citigroup’s CFO
revicwad the slide presentadon disseminared to analyses participating in the call, and staced:

irems which signiticanrly impact the resules Tor the quarcer. Firse we ook a

L2 billion wrine-down iy our highly-deveraoed finance portiolio. Sceondly, we

ook write-downs i the value ol oonr mortgage boacked securities and leveraged

fosims which were warehoused for tutine CDOY or CHO) secushiizacions as webl as on
CHUOY posiciones ot FA6 billion aet of any hedpes.




Ea

Dirivers of non-inrerest sevenires abso grew nicely . Inour Global Weallls
Manugement business assers mder fee bused management prew 38% or 20%
orndcally. T lovestent Banking we ranked Number 1in global  deby
wnclerwriting, Number 3 incmnounced and compleied M&A and Number 2 in
dobal cquity underwrteing onayear o date busis.

s

Your o dare cevenue growth cemds are strong despite the severe market
disfocations e rhuad guarter. We're pleased 1o see that che relative growth
rates of our bustnesses: markets and banking, inremational consumer, and Globat
Wealtl Meanagement all grew revenues ar double digic raees.

70 At the ouset of the 4" Quarrer ciunings conference call, Citigroup’s CEO Vikram
Pindir remarked: “In particudar, we had record resules in Wealth Management....” Latee during
that same call, Citigroup’s CIO Gary Crittenden reviewed the slide presencation disseminated o
analysts participanng in the call, and staced:

Shicte T shows you the consolidated resubes thar we have for the quarrer. To
sunimarize our tourth quarcer cesults, nee revenues declined 709, primarily on
$17.4 pillion in writedowns in fixed income on owr divect subprime exposures,
partiaily offset by contheimy vnderlying proacth in many of owr other businesses.
Ak

Drivets ol non-interest revenues also grew nicely. Credit card purchise sates were
ap 8% i the ULS. and 37% inrernarionally. Internarionally, organic card purchase
subes growth was 29%. hnternarional assets under management were up 24% in
International Consunmer, clhient capital undes munagement in CAT was ap 26%. In
onr Global Weoldh Manusemenr business, assets under fee-based management
proew 27% o 9% organically. Tne Tnvestment Banking, (or the full year 2007, we
rbilecd tnber one i global debu underwricing, number three in announced ad
complewsd MaA, and nuber three in global equiry underwritiog, [Eomphasis

added. |
il Detendanes destroved  docients postaming o Cidgroup ARS  in auctions

cmaccd Indhien, The docaments ar issue were covered by subpoena issued by the New York

Mtrorney General {the "NYAG™ on April B, 2008

Ins the sibpocne demanded production of “recordings of telephone conversations

conceruny the naarkeing, sale, Jismbution or auction of aoction-tae securites.”  Cirigroup
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adiitred © the NYAG dhat us auction desk recordings had been destroyed and are not
recoverable.

73 Lead Phamnatt aod other wmembers of the Clags purchased Ciugroup ARS during
the Chass Poviod while Detendants engaged in the manipularive conduct alleged in this Cmﬁl[.

14 Defendants’ manipulative conduce was {furthered by their use of the mails,
including, but o himited o, sendme co Lead Phaindtt and the Class (heir brokernee statements
retlecting thata marke tor Ciigroup ARS exdsted duringe ihe Class Period.

5. When Lead Phangt and other wenibers of the Class purchasaed Chiigroup ARS,
they did soin rebance upon the ey of the warket for Civigroup ARS, specilically thar the
prices ar which they purehased Citgroup ARS, the prices st which Citigroup ARS were sold, and
ihe miterest rates set on the (_filigmup ARS were determined by dhe narural inrerplay ot supply
aril demand, rather than by and i ignerance of Detendants’ manipulative conduct.

70, Lead Plaintif and other members of the Class would not have purchased the
Chugroup ARS ar the prices they paid, if acall, had they been aware of Defendanes’ manipulative

conduct,

-

When Defendants decided wo ne fonger numipadace the arket for Clrigroup ARS
ated fatled toostepomote support the nuaker, the marker Tor Civigroup ARS collapsed. Lead
Plamntifl aaud the Cliss could noe sell ther Cingroup ARS heenuse no marker 1o do so existed.

TS sSwice Febroary L2008, Lead Plamnit and che Chass have been unable 1o scll
their Ciieroup ARS, rewdering dheir imvvestinents Hliguid.

s Deteindants adnsdrred;) at feast by June 2308 when they mailed o Lead Plameiff his
brokerage stncment tor the period irone May | throneh Moy 31, 2008, that: *There is currently

no publichetraded warker or price lor ARS that are experencing Gailed auciions.™

L6




A By reason of the Joregpomg, Delendants have violated $10(b) of the Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-3(a) anad {0} promualgated dhcrennder, by employing devices, Stii'li?l.l'l{)':i and arifices
o deleand, andfor cnggnig i aces, pracrices and o comrse of business tar opernted as o fraud or
deceit upan vhe Class during the Class Period.

51 Arall relevam tinres, Deicodants’ manipulnive conduct, directly or proximately
cised v owere wsubstantial conrbuting cause ol the damages sustained by Lead Plaiotitf and
viber mwbers of the Class.

82 As s direce and proxtmate resull of Defeadants” wrongtol conduce, Tead Plaintitt
ared the o members of the Chass sulteeed dinnages i conuection watly thar purchases of
Clitigroup ARS durmg the Class Perviod i an amount ro he determined ae il

53, Lead Plaina and the Class Tuve suffered damase because the prices pad and che
interest rotes setwere not detennined by the saosal interplay of supply and demand when they
purchnsed Cinerenp ARS; wather they were set by the manipudative conduocr alleged.

COUNT 11

Violation of Section 20(4) of the Exchanpe Act
(Apuainst Delendands Citigroup and Glabal Markets)

5. Lend Plnndiff repears and realleges each of the allegacons ser forch ain Count 1,
85 Cuigroup acted as o concrolling person of Global Markers and Smiuth Barney

within the weaning ol 820 ol the Exchange Acr,

50, Cltigroup, inirs Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 (the #2007
FOKTY, deseoribes el as a0 global divensified  Tmancial services holding company whose
Bstnesses provide o broad range of financial services 1o consamer and corporate custotners.”

57 Advunding e Siith Barney’s wehsite, at

wwwsiithibaoey conyprospectielobid | resonrces bt Gast accessed on Auguse 18, 2008):




Weo Provide ao End-ro-End Plartorm

Tlrough the toll e of affiliancd Clugronp compantes, we provide an end-to-

coud plattomns of inuoicial seevices  everything rotn cash management ro (inancial

planming, brobeiage services, estare planning, block rading and  abrernative

investinents, e addition o MSA advisory services for muaddle-marker privately

held companies.

8. Clugroup's 2007 10-K also illusoraees Citigronp Scgments and Prodocrs, and
idenrities Siaith Barney as within Ciagroup's Glohal Wealth Management business seement.

B4, Acconding 1 Smith Barney’s wehsite, ar

www stiithba ney.conyprospecyplobad resources htmt (hist occessed on Aagust 18, 2008).

Citigronp e, a leading global Tl seevices company, has some 200 million

custotaer accowts, Cingroup does Dosmess e 10 countries,  providing

COnsters, corporations, goveroinents aund insiitutions with a broad range of

tinanciad products and services, induding consumer banking and credit, corporate

and vestowent banking, scecurives brokeripe, and wealth manugement. Major

Lrasnd names under Chigroup inchude . Smivh Barney ..

90 Clrgroup's 2007 10-K wlencifics Global Markets as one of che “Clitigroup’s primary
LLS. broker-dealer subsidiarny.”

91, Cirigroup incorporates the {inancial resels of Global Markets and Smith Barmey
o ity own tinanciald statements whicl v files with (e SEC.

97, Citigronpy provides tor Hugarion reserves agamst losses from legal proceedings in
which 1 and s subsidizisios, including specifically Global Markets, age named defendants.

93 Citteronp, by virtue of irs ownership of Globad Mackers and Smich Barney, bad the

ELOHP, Iy l

posver to nitoence aud conrrol, and Jid wtluence and conteod, the musconduce of Global Markers
and Sinith Baroee absou which Lead Plaintitf complains.

W Avcuiding o Snath Batney’s wehsire, at

www st hbvaney.conyprospec telobal resources hrmb (last accessed on August 1y, 2008):

“sonth Baney a0 division of Clrigroup Global Capital Marskers Tocs, o global, tull-service

kel




hancial e thac provides brokerage, investment banking and asset THANAZCINCIT SCEVICES EO
corporations, governnerts and individuals aronnd the warlld.”

95 Gilobal Murkers, by virtue of s relationship with Smich Barney, Lad the DPOWET LO
intloence wd control, and did mftoence and courol, the misconducr of Smith Barney abour
which Lead Plainitt complains.

/T By 1cwon (.)f such wronglul conducy, Cirigroup and Global Markew are liable
purstant o 52000 of the Exchange Act.

97. As o direct and proximare result of Cirigronp’s and Global Markets wrongful
conduct, Lead Plaintift and the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with
their purehises of Cidgroup ARS from Defendants diring the Class Period in an amonnt to be
determined at orial.

COUNT 111

Violations ol Section 80b-6 of the 1940 Act
{Against Smith Barncy)

UhT Lead Plaintift repeats and realleges cach ol the allegations ser foeth in 991 chrough
Y and 11-07

DG Lead Plainditl brings this Connt on hehali of all members of the Class who, during
the Class Period, had an invesument advisory contract with Simith Barney o provide investment
advisory services, and who paid investment advisory tees ro Smith Barmey.

tRL N Barmey s acinvestaent adviser as defined m $80k-2 (1 Fy ot che FO40 A,

[T Sl Barney eneages in 1he Iesiness o providing onesimene advice either
direcdy oe indivectly throuphy the use of the muils anddor other menis of 1serseie commerce.

[ smuh Barney wd the other defendanes engaged in manipulative conduet alleged

shove, specibeatly nsmipulining the market tor Ciigroup ARS in ancuons operated by then.




133 By rewson of the conduer ser torth herem, Smiith Barney acred i violation of
S50 of the TO40 A

104, Pursnant o §80-13(01 of the 1940 Act, the contracss lor the provision of
investment advisory services are void, and Lead Plaintt dencinds, on behalf of the r‘ncnlll')cr:s of
the Chass tor whon this Count is brought, rescission of dhie contraces and 2 teturn of all wonies
and ices poid by 1hese Class members 1o Smiieh Barney for tnvestment advisory services in the
Class Period rhae fed to the purchase of Cltigroup ARS during the Class Period.

COUNT 1V

Breach of Fiduciary Duty
{Apainst All Defendanis)

{05, Tead Plaineiit repuars and realleges each of the allegarions set forth in $11 througl
7, ond 10-62.

106, Lead Planutf brings this Coune on belialf of all members of the Class who
acguired Ciugronp ARS tha are nor Ycovered securitios,” as that term is defined in che Securities
Lingarion Untform Standards Ace, 13 U.S.C0 §78ROGYT) (“Covered Securities™ and who
lave investent advisory conrracts and discrerionary nceonnts with Smirh Barney.

W7, Defendants, by providing investrment advice 1o the members of chie Class for
whom this Cound is brought, owe o fiduciory duty o them roaer i the best intereses of these
mornhers of the Clss sather than for themselves.

IS8, Deiendants, by cogagmg in the mampulaive conduct alfeged herein, violated
then Gdicingy duties 1o those miembers of the Class tor whom this Count is broughr,

10V As o consequence of Defendanes’” intervention o prevene its Citgroup ARS
aucnions ot Bting as alleped above in 1942 and 69, memibers of the Class for whom this Count

iv bronghe acquired Citdgroup ARS withowt the bnowledge thar such interverniom was at
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Drctendanes” discredion, and that discretion would be exercised in Defendams” best interests.
110, As a result of Defendane’s breach of fiduciary duties, those members of the Class
for whom this Count is brought have suffered damages i an amowr 1o be determined ac crial.
I The damages suffered by niembers of the Class for whom this Cpum is brought
were a direce and foresceable resulr, proximarely caused by Defendant’s breach of fiduciary duties.

COUNT V
Violations of the State Deceptive Practices Acts

L Lead Plainudt repeats il realleges cach of the sdlegadions see forth in W1 through
1, 1062, and 65.

I, Lead Planuil brings this Count on behalf ol all members of the Class who during
the Class Period were residents ot Arizona, Florida, llines, Marviond, Wisconsin, Colorado,
Kentucky, New Mexico, Nebraska, Idaho, Debiware, South Dakota or Norrh Dakora, il who
acguired Ciugroup ARS thar are not Covered Seountics.

L Defendants have engaged in the antate or deceptive aces or praceices set forth
above 1o manipulate the marker for Ciugroup ARS wul the ineene thae Lead Plainuff and
membets of the Class rely on those manipulative acts or pracrices in connection witly the
putchise ol Cirigroup ARS.

[ When Lead Plaintift and other members of the Class em whose behalf this Count
is brought parchased Citigroup ARS, they Jid so i relisnee upen the integriry of the market for
Citigroup ARS, specifically thar the prices ac which they purehased C_Iiri;;rrmp ARS, the prices ar
which Cittgroup ARS were sold, and vhe interest aes ser oo the Citigroup ARS were determined
by the natural interplay of supply and demand, rader than by and inignorance of Defendams’

neapulitive conduct.




Heé o Lead Plainaff and other members of the Class on whaose behalt rhis Count is
bronght would not have purchased the Cirigronp ARS e the prices rhey paid, il ac all, had they
bect nware ot Defendans’ manipulagive conduct,

17 As a resule of Defendants’ aces or praciices in manipulaving the murl:'c[ tor
Cltigroup ARS {as alleged above wn 1136 (hrough 60), Lead Plaintiff and the members of the
Class tor whom this Coune is broughre have suflered actnal damages.

118, Defendants maintain offices in Arizona, Florida, Iingis, Maryland, Wisconsin,
Colorado, Kentucky, New Mexico, Delaware, South Dakora and Nuoreh Dakora tirough which
they transace business, including with Lead Plaindill and chose members of the Class for whom
this Counu is broughit.

19, fead Planaft and the membars of dhe Class for whom this Counr 15 bronght
prrchiased Crogronp ARS ineach Class Member's homie stawe.

L2000 As g resule of the foregoing, Global Markers and Smith Bumey have violated the
fallowing state statures:

(a) Arizona Corsumer Frand Act, Ariz. Rev, Stan Ann §44-1522 o
3, liJO(‘“,

(1 Florida Deceprive and Unbair Trade Practices Acy, Ta St Ann,
$301.201 et seyg. (West 2008),

() Hinots Conswmer Fraod and Deceprive Business Practices A, 8195
L Cornp. Star. Ann, §505/1 o seq. (Wost 2008),

(i} Maryland Consumer Prorection Act, Md. Code Ann,, Comm Laws
SH13-301 vr e {West 2008);

() Wisconsin Dueceptive Trwde Practices Act, Wis, Stac. Ann
SO TH (Wes 2007);

{1 Cotorudo Consaner Prorection Act, Colo. Rev. Star. Ann. 6-1- 101
el sed. (West 20083,




i) Kevtucky Consumer  Protecnon Acy, Ky, Rev, St Ann.
30T 110 er e {West 2007);

(I} New Mexico Unfair Pracaees Ace, NOML Seas A, §8957-12-1 e
s (West 2008);

{t) Dclaware Consuner Froud Acr, Del Code Ann. Tie 6 882511 ¢t
seqf. (Wost 2008);

() South Dakota Deceptive Trade Practices and Consumer Act, 8.1,
Conhfied Lows §§37-24-1 o seq; and

() Nocch Dakota Constuiner Fraad Acy, N Cene Code Ann §51-
P01 eesey. (Woest 20073

(25 By reason of the foregoing, Lead Phinti] and members of the Class for whom this
Count is brought have been damaged in an amount 1o be dewermined at rial,
COUNT VI

Injunctive Relief

{Avainst All Defendants)

122, Lead Plaindl repeats and reallepes cach of the allepadions ser forth in 91 through
7, W18, and 2562,

I

g

3. Lead Plainett brings this Count on behall of the Class pursnane o FED. R. Civ. P,

2302, The members of the Class are so numerous and geographically Jispersed that joinder of

all memsbers iy hopraciicable, Detendimts assued more than $30 bittion of Citigroup ARS.
Praring the Chiss Pered, Delendimnes sold or oflcred ior sale in Defendams-managad anctions
hilliores of dollars of Cingroup ARS.

40 Lead Plamtitfs claims in this Couwm e vypical ol the clums of the Class hecnase
Lie o the Class members have no marker into which they may resell their Cidgroup ARS

without the explicic assistance of Defendants.

a0 Fead Plainud! will adeguately protece the inverests of the Cliss. Lead Pladndft has
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retined conrsel wios experienced and comperent e class sction secarnies huganion, Leid
Plaonif has no interests which are in condlicr with those of the Ulass,

126, Questons of Taw and Lact common o rhe Class inelhade:

(1) whether Defendanes Tave relised 1o make a market inte which the C];ws Ty
resedt their Citigroup ARS; and
(b} whether Lead Plainrift and the Class have no adeguate remedy at law,

(27, On February 11, 2008, Detendanes ceased their manipulation of the market for
Citigroup ARS, the auctons for Citigroup ARS failed, and the investments of Lead Plaintiff and
the Cliass in Cirigroup ARS became iiliguid.

1268, Delendants adimiteed, at Teast by June 2008 when they matled to Lead Plainiiff his
brokctage statement for che period rom May 1 rhrough Moy 31, 2008, thar: “There is currently
o pubhcly-craded market or price tor ARS rhat are expericncing failed auctions.”

F29. Delendanres retuse to make o marker into which Tead Plaineff and che Class can
resell Cidgroup ARS, thereby making appropriare the final injuncrive relief sought here, Le., that
Petendanes should be enjoined frony inrerforing wich che abilicy of any member of the Class o
cesedl their Citigroup ARS i secondary nrnket

300 Ay woconsequence of the Bailure of the Crdgroup ARS marker on Febouary 1,
JO alter Detendunts coosed engaging in their manmpulative conduct, Lead Plawntifl and the
Class have heen unuble to selt their Citigroup ARS

31 Eead Plainift and ehe Class cannot sell the Citigronp ARS they puichased during
the Chiss Period.

1320 By reason of the loregoing, Detendants should be enjomed fron intertering with

thoe absility ot iy member of the Class to resell their Cirigroup ARS i asecondary market.




P33 Lead Platonedt and the Class have no adequane remedy ae Law.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHERETORE, Lead Phingitf, on behalf of hunsell and the Class, prays for judgment as follows:
A Declaring rhis action w be a proper cluss action pursuant to FLbn R C'I\-’. P. 23(a}
aned 2 3B on behalf of che Class defined hereing
. With respect to Cownes [ IV and V) awearding Lead Plaingiff and che members

ol the Class compensatory damages;

(. With respect w Coune HI, awarding rescissionary damages;
i, Wit respect to Coune VI, granvig Lead Plaineiff and the members of the Class

ciuitable veliel ayainst Detendants, cojoining them drom intertering with the abalivy ot any
nweniliers of the Class from seling thew Cinigronp ARS o secondury market;

I, Awarding Lead Plaintitf and the menbers of the Class pre-judgment and post-
judgiment inwerest, as well as reasonable attorneys” fees, experr witness lees sid other costs; and

I Awarding such other reliel as this Court may deem juse and proper.




Fead Plamifl demands acrrial by jury.

DATEDY Aupust 75, 2008

JURY DEMAND
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Py: Ruuf A o
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jzwerlingleizsz com
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1301 S.WL 57" Court, Suite 515
Sourh Miami, FL 33143

Tels (335 357-9000

Fax: (303} 357-9050
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Co-Counsel for Lead Pluintiff




CERTIFICATION OF LEAD PLAINTIFF DR. MICHAEL A, PASSIDOMQ

(.

[, Dr. Michael A, Passidomo, declae that:

T have weviewed the Lead Plaindif's Consolidated Amended Complaint in In e
Citigronp Auciion Rate Securities  Litgation, Master File No. 08 Civ. 3095
(LES)(EM) (che “Action”) and authorize its filing. ’

Fdid not purchase any secunity, which is the subject of this action, ar rthe direction
of Lewd Counsel or my other counsel or in order to participate i (his private
ACrion,

[ any willing to serve as o representative party on behall of the class, including
providing testimony ar deposition and rrial, it necessary.

My rransactions in the sceurities that are the subject of this action during the class
period are described in the atcachmaenr o this Certification.

During the three years prior o the dare of this Cortificadon, [ luve not souglit to
serve noe served as a representative party lor a class in any action filed under the
tederal seeurttes laws, with the excepuon of tlas Cowrt appainting me as Lead
Plamtitt in the Action,

Lwill nor accept any payment for serving as a representative party on behalf of the
class beyond our pro rata share of any recovery, except such weasonable costs and
expenses (including lost wages) dirccely relating to the representation of the class
as ordered or approved by the Court.

L, Dr. Michael A. Passidomo, declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is

true and correct.

August 22, 2008 h\ﬂ@( ,’é/

Dr. Michacel A. Passidomo




Lead Plaintiff's Class Period Citigroup ARS Purchases

- Date Acquired | Description o ! Enits Unit Cost Cost
08/01/07 ' BLACKROCK FLAMUN BD TR SRW7 40 § 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
; . MUN AUCT RT CUM PED |
08/01/07 | MFS HIGH INCOME MUN TR R § 25,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00
. MUN AUC RT PED SER W _ i
' 08/02/07 "EATON VANCE INSD CALIF MUN 60 $ 25,000.00 $1,500,000.00
L  BDFD SER B AUCT PFD | . )
: Q8207 ' MFS MUNI INCOME TR AUCT RT 60 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,500,000.00
i CUM PFD SER TH _ i
08/03/07 'NUVEEN FLA QUALITY INCOME MUN | 80 $25,002.75 $ 2,000,220.00
_ FD MUN AUCT RATE PFD SER F
08/06/07 NUVEEN DIV ADV MUN FD 140 5 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
- ' INC MUNI PFD SER M :
z 08/06/07 : NUVEEN ARIZ DIV ADV MUN FD 3 17 $25,002.50 $ 425,042.50
| MUN AUCT RT PFD |
| 08/07/07 BLACKROCK CALIF MU'N INCOME TR 120 § 25,000.00 $ 3,000,000.00
! ' MUN AUC RT CUM PFD SER T7 - .
09/04/07 ' BLACKROCK CALIF MUN INCOME TR | 120 % 23,000.00 $ 3,000,000.00
| MUN AUC RT CUM PED SER T7 |
09/05/07 - BLACKROCK FLA MUN BD TR SR W7 40 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
L MUN AUCT RT CUM PFD _
09/05/07 ' MFS HIGH INCOME MUN TR 80 $ 25,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00
:__ MUN AUC RT PFD SER W
i 09/06/07 EATON VANCE INSD CALIF MUN 60 $ 25,000.00 $'1,500,000.00
b | BD FD SER B AUCT PFD _
| 09/06/07 MFS MUNI INCOME TR AUCT RT 60 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,500,000.00
. CUM PFD SER TH ' _
09/07/07 NUVEEN FLA QUALITY INCOME MUN 80 $ 25,002.75 $ 2,000,220.00
FD MUN AUCT RATE PFD SER F
09/10/07 NUVEEN DIV ADV MUN FD 40 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
INC MUNI PFD SER M
09/10/07 NUVEEN ARIZ DIV ADV MUN FD 3 17 $ 25,002.50 $ 425,042,350
_ MUN AUCT RT PED
10/01/07 - NUVEEN DIV ADV MUN ¥D 40 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
| INC MUNI PFD SER M
|




10/01/07 NUVEEN ARIZ DIV ADV MUN FD 3 17 $ 25,002.50 $ 423,042.50
- MUN AUCT RT PFD
10/02/07 BLACKROCK CALIF MUN INCOME TR 120 $ 25,000.00 $ 3,000,000.00
MUN AUC RT CUM PFD SER T7
10/03/07 BLACKROCK FLA MUN BD TR SR W7 40 $ 25.000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
' MUY AUCT RT CUM PFD
10/03/07 MES HIGH INCOME MUN TR 80 $ 25.000.00 S 2,000,000.00 :
. MUN AUC RT PFD SER W
10/04/07 EATON VANCE INSD CALIF MUN 60 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,500,000.00 ?
BD FD SER B AUCT PFD
10/04/07 : MFS MUNI INCOME TR AUCT RT 60 $ 25,000,00 $ 1,500,000.00 .
' CUM PFD SER TH
1000507 . NUVEEN FLA QUALITY INCOME MUN 80 $ 25,002.95 2,000,220.00 !
FD MUN AUCT RATE PFD SER F i
10/26/07 NUVEEN FLA QUALITY INCOME MUN 80 $ 25,002.75 $ 2,000,220.00
FD MUN AUCT RATE PFD SERF _
10/29/07 NUVEEN DIV ADV MUN FD 4Q $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
| INC MUNI PFD SER M
10:29/07 - NUVEEN ARIZ DIV ADV MUN FD 3 17 $ 25,002.50 $425,042.50
e UMUNAUCTRTPFD i o
110107 "EATON VANCE INSD CALIF MUN 20 $ 25,000.00 $ 500,000.00
. BD FD SER B AUCT PFD
11/01/07 - MFS MUNI INCOME TR AUCT RT 60 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,500,000.00
... CUM PFD SER TH
11/06/07 - BLACKROQCK CALIF MUN INCOME TR 120 $ 25,000.00 $ 3,000,000.00
MUN AUC RT CUM PFD SER T7 '
11/07/07 BLACKROCK FLA MUN BD TR SR W7 40 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
MUN AUCT RT CUM PFD
11/07/07 MFS$ HIGH INCOME MUN TR 80 § 25,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00
MUN AUC RT PFD SER W
12/03/07 " NUVEEN DIV ADV MUN FD 40 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00 '
P, e INC IVIUN—I PFD SER LJ{ [P —— e
12/03/07 NUVEEN ARIZ DIV ADV MUN FD 3 17 §25,002.50 $425,042.50
- MUN AUCT RT PFD _ }
| 12/04/07 - BLACKROCK CALIF MUN INCOME TR 120 $ 25,000.00 $ 3,000,000.00
~MUN AUC RT CUM PFD SER T7
12/05/07 BLACKROCK FLA MUN BD TR SR W7 40 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00

MUN AUCT RT CUM PTFD




BD FD SER B AUCT PFD

12/0507 ' MFS HIGH INCOME MUN TR 80 $ 25,000.00 ! $ 2,000,000.00
, MUN AUC RT PFD SER W ' ,
12/06/07 £ATON VANCE INSD CALIF MUN 20 $ 25,000.00 $ 500,000.00
~ BD FD SER B AUCT PFD !
12:06/07 MFS MUNT INCOME TR AUCT RT 60 $ 23,000.00 $ 1,500,000.00
CUM PFD SER TH |
12/07/07 NUVEEN FLA QUALITY INCOME MUN 80 $25,002.75 $ 2,000,220.00 !
FD MUN AUCT RATE PFD SER F ) !
01/02/08 ' BLACKROCK FLA MUXN BD TR SR W7 40 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00 ’
MUN AUCT RT CUM PFD
01/02/08 MFS HIGH INCOME MUN TR 80 § 25,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00
MUN AUC RT PFD SER W
01/03/08 : EATON VANCE INSD CALIF MUN 20 $ 25,000,00 $ 500,000.00
- BD FD SER B AUCT PFD
01/03,08 MFS MUNI INCOME TR AUCT RT 60 § 25,000.00 $ 1,500,000.00
CUM PFD SER TH
01/04/08& NUVEEN FLA QUALITY INCOME MUN 63 $25,002.75 $ 1,575,173.25
FD MUN AUCT RATE PFD SER F o :
01708 ' NUVEEN DIV ADV MUN FD 40 $ 25,000.00 i $ 1,000,000.0C
L INC MUNI PFD SER M |
_i O1/07/08 NUVEEN ARIZ DIV ADV MUN FD 3 17 $25,002.50 ! $ 425,042.50
; MUN AUCT RT PFD
01/08/08 BLACKROCK CALIF MUN INCOME TR 120 % 25,000.00 $ 3,000,000.00 !
L MUN AUC RT CUM PFD SER T7 j
01,25/08 - NUVEEN FLA QUALITY INCOME MUN 63 3 25,002.75 $ 1,575,173.25
FD MUN AUCT RATE PFD SER T .
02/04/08 NUVEEN DIV ADV MUN FDD 39 $ 25,000.00 $ 975,000.00
- INC MUNI PFD SER M )
02/04/08 NUVEEN ARIZ DIV ADV MUN FD 3 17 $ 25,002.50 $ 425,042.50
. MUN AUCT RT PFD _
Q2/05/08 BLACKROCK CALIF MUN INCOME TR 120 $ 25,000.00 $ 3,000,000.00
MUN AUC RT CUM PFD SER T7
02/06/08 ' BLACKROCK FLA MUN BD TR SR W7 40 $ 25,000.00 $ 1,000,000.00
. MUN AUCT RT CUM PFD
02/06/08 MFS HIGH INCOME MUN TR 80 $ 25,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00
MUN AUC RT PFD SER W '
02/07/08 EATON VANCE INSD CALIF MUN 20 $ 25,000.00 $ 500,000.00

(% |




MPFS MUNI INCOME TR AUCTRT |

CUM PFD SER TH

60

£

$ 1,500,000.00
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